<u>No. 46426-8</u>

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

John Tyler,

Appellant.

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 02-1-00419-9

The Honorable Judge John P. Wulle

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. No rational jury could have found Mr. Tyler guilty of count II beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 2. The state presented insufficient evidence of sexual intercourse, which was necessary to convict Mr. Tyler of count II.

ISSUE 1: To convict for rape of a child, the state must prove that the accused engaged in sexual intercourse. Here, the state's evidence in support of count II provided only that "it" happened more than once during the relevant time period. Did the state present insufficient evidence for a rational jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Tyler engaged in sexual intercourse?

- 3. No rational jury could have found Mr. Tyler guilty of count IV beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 4. The state presented insufficient evidence that the alleged victim was under twelve years old during the alleged conduct charged in count IV.

ISSUE 2: To convict for rape of a child in the first degree, the state must prove that the alleged victim was under the age of twelve at the time of the misconduct. Here, J.A.R. testified that the incident had occurred "last year," which was after her twelfth birthday. Did the state present insufficient evidence for a rational jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that J.A.R. was under twelve at the time of the incident charged in count IV?

- 5. No rational jury could have found Mr. Tyler guilty of count VI beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 6. No rational jury could have found Mr. Tyler guilty of count VIII beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 7. The state presented insufficient evidence that the alleged victim was under twelve years old during the alleged conduct charged in counts VI and VIII.

ISSUE 3: To convict for rape of a child in the first degree or child molestation in the first degree, the state must prove that the alleged victim was under the age of twelve at the time of the misconduct. Here, J.A.R. testified that she did not remember how old she was during the incidents comprising counts VI and VIII. Did the state present insufficient evidence for a rational jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that J.A.R. was under twelve at the time of the events charged in counts VI and VIII?

- 8. The court violated Mr. Tyler's rights under Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16 by making judicial comments on the evidence.
- 9. The court commented on the evidence by instructing the jury that the alleged victims' dates of birth had been established as a matter of law.

ISSUE 4: When an alleged victim's age is an element of an offense, the court makes an impermissible comment on the evidence by including his/her birthdate in the jury instructions. Here, each of the court's to-convict instructions included the alleged victim's stated date of birth. Did the court make an impermissible comment on the evidence in violation of art. IV, § 16?

- 10. The court erred by admitting evidence of Mr. Tyler's use of corporal punishment, which was inadmissible under ER 404(b).
- 11. The court erred by admitting evidence of Mr. Tyler's use of corporal punishment, which was inadmissible under ER 403.
- 12. The evidence of Mr. Tyler's use of corporal punishment was not relevant to any proper purpose.
- 13. The evidence of Mr. Tyler's use of corporal punishment encouraged the jury to convict him based on propensity, in violation of his rights under the Fourteenth Amendment.

ISSUE 5: ER 403 and ER 404(b) prohibit introduction of evidence of uncharged misconduct, except in limited circumstances. Here, the court allowed the state to introduce evidence that Mr. Tyler used corporal punishment; the state did not present any evidence connecting his disciplinary tactics to the alleged sexual abuse. Did the trial court err by admitting evidence of uncharged misconduct?

- 14. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Tyler of his Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial.
- 15. The prosecutor committed misconduct by "testifying" to "facts" that were not in evidence
- 16. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the passion and prejudice of the jury
- 17. The prosecutor committed misconduct by conveying a personal opinion of Mr. Tyler's guilt.
- 18. The prosecutor's misconduct prejudiced Mr. Tyler.
- 19. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

ISSUE 6: Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. Here, the prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice throughout her closing argument, expressing a personal opinion of guilt, and "testifying" to "facts" that had not been admitted into evidence. Did the prosecutor's improper arguments deprive Mr. Tyler of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

- 20. The language charging Mr. Tyler was deficient in violation of his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 21. The language charging Mr. Tyler was deficient in violation of his rights under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22.
- 22. The charging document failed to allege critical facts identifying the charges and allowing Mr. Tyler to plead a former acquittal or conviction in any subsequent prosecution for a similar offense.
- 23. The charging document was insufficient to permit Mr. Tyler to prepare a meaningful defense.

ISSUE 7: A charging document must set forth any critical facts necessary to identify the particular crime charged. Here, the Information charging Mr. Tyler contained identical language for numerous charges, and provided no facts to differentiate the charges from one another or from any other alleged act during the multi-year charging periods. Did the omission of critical facts infringe Mr. Tyler's right to an adequate charging document under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22?

24. The court erred by including Mr. Tyler's alleged prior convictions in his Judgment and Sentence when the state failed to present any evidence that those convictions had actually occurred.

ISSUE 8: The state must present some evidence that a prior conviction exists in order to use it to increase the offender score at sentencing. Here, the court found that Mr. Tyler had five prior felony convictions even though the state did not present any evidence to that effect. Did the court err by finding that Mr. Tyler had prior convictions absent any evidence?

25. The court erred by increasing Mr. Tyler's offender score based on five alleged prior convictions that should have "washed out."

ISSUE 9: Prior convictions for class B and C felonies do not add a point to an offender score if the person subsequently has spent 10 or 5 crime-free years in the community respectively. The court added five points to Mr. Tyler's offender score based on prior convictions for class B and C felonies even though the most recent one occurred fourteen years before Mr. Tyler's current convictions. Did the court err by increasing Mr. Tyler's offender score based on prior convictions that had "washed out"?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

John Tyler was a strict father. His daughter and three stepchildren had to earn privileges by completing their chores well and on time. RP 240. Mr. Tyler used corporal punishment when they misbehaved. RP 151-52, 172, 215-16, 243.

After more than eight years of this routine, three of the children – J.A.R., H.M.R., and E.M.K. -- claimed that Mr. Tyler had been sexually abusing them for years. Based on their reports, the state charged Mr. Tyler with twenty child sex offenses. CP 15-21.

The language of the Information charging Mr. Tyler simply listed the statutory elements of the offenses and added date ranges and the name and birthdate of the alleged victim. CP 15-21. This meant that the charging language for counts IV, VI, XI, and XIII was identical. CP 16-17. The same is true for counts I and II; V and VII; IX, XII, and XIV; and XVII and XVIII. CP 15-20. None of the counts in the Information contained any facts permitting the reader to distinguish what alleged incidents the state intended to rely upon. CP 15-21.

At trial, the state relied on Mr. Tyler's disciplinary practices as evidence of his guilt. RP 151-52, 172, 215-16, 243, 524, 539. Mr. Tyler objected, noting that the evidence was irrelevant, highly prejudicial, and

likely to inflame the jury. The court responded that the jury "is going to be impacted simply by the statement of what the charges are." RP 19-20. The judge reasoned that "it doesn't seem like [the evidence] is going to inflame them any worse than the case itself will." RP 19. The court ruled that the evidence was admissible to explain the children's delay in reporting the alleged abuse. RP 20.

The prosecutor elected to base counts I and II (for rape of a child in the first degree) on Mr. Tyler's alleged conduct toward J.A.R. when they lived in an apartment, before moving into their current house. RP 495-98. Regarding count I, J.A.R. testified that Mr. Tyler engaged in intercourse with her and then gave her candy afterwards. RP 123-25. In support of count II, J.A.R. testified only that "it" happened more than once when they lived in the apartment. RP 125. She did not clarify what "it" meant. RP 125.

The state elected to rely on a different incident for count IV, which was also for rape of a child in the first degree against J.A.R. RP 501-04. In support of that count, J.A.R. testified that Mr. Tyler engaged in intercourse with her one night while her mother was working at the fair. RP 136-38. She testified, however, that it happened "last year." RP 137. She also said that her twelfth birthday was two years before the trial. RP 116.

Counts VI and VIII were for first degree rape of a child and first degree child molestation, respectively. CP 17. Again, the prosecutor elected to rely on a specifically described incident for each of those charges. RP 509-12. J.A.R. testified, however, that she did not recall how old she was or what grade she was in during either one of those instances. RP 139-40, 146. Even so, the prosecutor argued that the jury could find that she was less than twelve years old at the time of the allegations because she also said that Mr. Tyler abused her over the course of many years. RP 514.

The prosecutor began her closing argument by telling the jury that they were fortunate because they had the opportunity to find Mr. Tyler guilty. RP 486. She said the jury was lucky because they could "hold him accountable for torturing these little girls." RP 486.

She described Mr. Tyler as keeping a "harem." RP 534. She recounted J.A.R.'s description of the pain she felt when Mr. Tyler allegedly anally raped her. RP 508-09. The prosecutor also emphasized that E.M.K. was Mr. Tyler's "own flesh-and-blood, biological daughter." RP 540. She said the jury had heard firsthand about "one of the most horrifying experiences any child could endure." RP 486. She described Mr. Tyler as a "calculating human being." RP 524.

Finally, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Tyler had threatened to beat the girls if they told anyone about the alleged abuse. RP 524. She also claimed that Mr. Tyler hit the girls with a belt if they refused to take their clothes off. RP 539.

Each of the court's to-convict instructions included the alleged victim's stated date of birth in the description of the first element. CP 36-38, 40-41, 45-59.

The jury found Mr. Tyler guilty of sixteen counts.¹ RP 567-70. Mr. Tyler's convictions were entered in 2002. RP 97.

At sentencing, the state did not present evidence that Mr. Tyler had any prior convictions. RP 586-608. The Judgment and Sentence, however, includes a finding that he had five prior felony convictions, the most recent of which was entered in 1988. CP 99.

Mr. Tyler notified the court and defense counsel that he wanted to appeal his convictions. RP 609-10. The trial judge made an oral order appointing an attorney for Mr. Tyler's appeal. RP 610. After discussion with defense counsel, the court agreed to contact the appellate attorney from chambers to ensure that the proper paperwork was filed for Mr. Tyler's appeal. RP 611. But no notice of appeal was ever filed on Mr. Tyler's behalf. CP 122.

¹ Of the twenty charges, the jury rejected four of the alternative charges. RP 567-70.

Mr. Tyler was unaware that no notice of appeal had been filed until the court clerk informed him in 2011. CP 122-23. In June 2014, the Court of Appeals granted his *pro se* request to file a late notice of appeal and to be appointed counsel as public expense. CP 131-62, 163-65.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. TYLER OF COUNTS II, IV, VI, OR VIII.

A. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Tyler engaged in sexual intercourse (as required for count II) based only on J.A.R.'s testimony that "it" happened more than once.

The state charged Mr. Tyler with two counts of first degree rape of a child based on alleged acts against J.A.R. while they lived in a previous apartment. RP 495-98. But J.A.R. testified only to one incident of sexual intercourse – that supporting count I. RP 123-25. Her testimony that "it" happened more than once was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Tyler had engaged in sexual intercourse a second time, as required to convict him of count II. RP 125; *State v. Jensen*, 125 Wn.

App. 319, 327, 104 P.3d 717 (2005).

Conviction for first degree rape of a child requires proof of sexual intercourse. RCW 9A.44.073.

Generic testimony from an alleged victim of child sexual abuse can only support a specific charge if it describes: (1) the kind of act or acts with sufficient specificity for the jury to determine which offense, if any, has been committed; (2) the number of acts committed with sufficient certainty to support each count alleged by the prosecution; and (3) the general time period in which the acts occurred.

Jensen, 125 Wn. App. at 327. In *Jensen*, the alleged victim testified to one instance of sexual contact. *Id.* at 326. The jury also heard testimony that Jensen had touched her private areas "a few times." *Id.* at 327. That evidence was insufficient to support more than once conviction for child molestation because it did not describe the alleged acts with sufficient particularity. *Id.* at 328.

Likewise, J.A.R.'s testimony that "it" happened more than once is insufficient to convict Mr. Tyler of an additional count of child molestation. *Id.* The evidence does not clarify what "it" means. The evidence was not particular enough for the jury to determine what misconduct, if any, occurred on those additional occasions. *Id.* It was certainly not specific enough to prove sexual intercourse.

Evidence is insufficient if, when taken in the light most favorable to the state, no rational jury could have found each element of the offense proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 325. Here, no rational jury could have found that the state had proved that Mr. Tyler engaged in sexual intercourse with J.A.R. on more than one occasion during the

charging period for counts I and II. Mr. Tyler's conviction for count II must be reversed. *Id.*

B. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that J.A.R. was younger than twelve during the commission of count IV, when she testified that it happened "last year," which was after her twelfth birthday.

Conviction for child molestation in the first degree requires proof that the alleged victim was under the age of twelve. RCW 9A.44.073. J.A.R. turned twelve two years before Mr. Tyler's trial. RP 116. For count IV, the state relied on evidence regarding an incident that happened one night in the room Mr. Tyler shared with J.A.R.'s mother, while her mother was working at the fair. RP 501-04. J.A.R. testified that the incident had happened "last year." RP 137.

No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that J.A.R. was younger than twelve at the time of the incident charged in count IV. *Jensen*, 125 Wn. App. at 325. Indeed, the state's evidence indicated that she was either twelve or thirteen at the time. RP 116, 137. Mr. Tyler's conviction for count IV must be reversed. *Id.*

C. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that J.A.R. was under twelve during the commission of counts VI and VIII, when she testified that she did not remember how old she was and there was no other evidence regarding her age at the time of those alleged incidents.

Count VI (for rape of a child in the first degree) and count VIII (for child molestation in the first degree) both required proof that J.A.R. was under twelve years old at the time of the incident. RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 9A.44.083. J.A.R.'s twelfth birthday was seventeen months before Mr. Tyler moved out of the family home. RP 116.

For count VI, the state relied on J.A.R's testimony about an alleged incident of anal sex in her bedroom during the day. RP 509. But J.A.R. testified that she did not remember how old she was during that alleged incident or what grade she was in at the time. RP 139-40.

Similarly, for count VIII, the state relied on J.A.R.'s testimony that Mr. Tyler put her hand on his penis in her mother's room. RP 510-12. Again, J.A.R. stated that she did not remember how old she was during that alleged incident. RP 146.

The state did not present any evidence that J.A.R. was younger than twelve at the time of the allegations in counts VI and VIII. *See* RP *generally*. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the incidents happened before her twelfth birthday. *Jensen*, 125 Wn. App. at 325. Mr. Tyler's convictions for counts VI and VIII must be reversed. *Id*.

II. THE TRIAL COURT MADE IMPERMISSIBLE COMMENTS ON THE EVIDENCE BY INCLUDING THE ALLEGED VICTIMS' ALLEGED BIRTHDATES IN THE TO-CONVICT INSTRUCTIONS.

When an alleged victim's age is an element of a crime, the court makes an unconstitutional comment on the evidence by including his/her alleged date of birth in the jury instructions. *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 744, 132 P.3d 136 (2006), *as corrected (Feb. 14, 2007)*; Wash. Const. art. I, § 16.

The age of the alleged victim was a critical element of each of the offenses with which Mr. Tyler was charged. RCW 9A.44.073, RCW 9A.44.076, RCW 9A.44.083, RCW 9A.44.086. Even so, each of the court's to-convict instructions in Mr. Tyler's case included the birthdate of the alleged victim. CP 36-38, 40-41, 45-59. Accordingly, the court's instructions permitted the jury to infer that the girls' dates of birth had already been proved, removing the age elements of the offenses from the jury's consideration. *Id.*

An improper judicial comment on the evidence is presumed prejudicial. *Id.* at 743. Reversal is required unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted. *Id.* In *Jackman*, reversal was required even though the accused did not dispute alleged victims' birthdates at trial. *Id.* at 745. Because the jury instructions removed the facts regarding an element of the crime from the jury's consideration altogether, the court was unable to find beyond a reasonable doubt that no prejudice could have resulted. *Id.*

Similarly, in Mr. Tyler's case, the record does not affirmatively demonstrate that the court's improper comments on the evidence could not have changed the outcome. *Id.* The girls' ages were at issue in each charge. As outlined above, there was already confusion and ambiguity regarding whether J.A.R. was under or over twelve years old during the allegations making up several charges. Similarly, H.M.R. was alleged to have turned twelve less than a week after Mr. Tyler's arrest. RP 184. Any reasonable doubt about the girls' birthdates would have made a difference in Mr. Tyler's case. But the court's instructions completely removed that issue from the jury's consideration. The court's improper comments on the evidence require reversal of Mr. Tyler's convictions. *Id.*

The court violated Mr. Tyler's art. I, § 16 rights by making impermissible comments on the evidence. *Id.* Mr. Tyler's convictions must be reversed. *Id.*

III. THE COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF MR. TYLER'S USE OF CORPORAL PUNISHMENT, WHICH WAS NOT RELEVANT TO THE CHARGES AND WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE FOR ANY PROPER PURPOSE, AND WAS MORE PREJUDICIAL THAN PROBATIVE.

The state presented evidence that Mr. Tyler used corporal punishment to discipline his children when they did not complete their chores. RP 151-52, 172, 215-16, 243. When Mr. Tyler objected to the evidence, the court stated only that "it doesn't seem like [the evidence] is going to inflame them any worse than the case itself will." RP 19. Without any further analysis, the court ruled that the evidence was admissible to explain the children's delay in reporting the alleged abuse. RP 20. The court erred by overruling Mr. Tyler's objection in violation of ER 404(b) and ER 403.

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