NO. 46426-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JOHN THOMAS TYLER, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.02-1-00419-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

he did not report the sexual abuse to anyone, J.R. said that if he did Mr. Tyler would be waiting for him at the house and would "spank" him. RP 243-44.

Consequently, the testimony elicited at trial supported the basis by which the trial court allowed the evidence to come in—to explain the delayed reporting. The evidence, in total, made clear that the children were scared of Mr. Tyler, the physical abuse he perpetrated on them was part and parcel of why they feared him, and they did not report the sexual abuse because they were scared of him and what he would do. Moreover, there were additional proper bases to admit the physical abuse testimony including to "explain why the victim[s] submitted to the sexual abuse and failed to . . . escape it, to rebut the implication that the molestation[s] did not occur and to show defendant's intent to dominate the victim[s] and create an environment in which he could sexually abuse [them]." Wilson, 60 Wn.App. at 890. Thus, the evidence was properly admitted by the trial court.

Even if, however, the evidence was improperly admitted there was overwhelming evidence of Mr. Tyler's guilt and there is no reasonable possibility that excluding the testimony would have changed the outcome

⁶ At sentencing, the trial court noted "[e]ach victim was terrified of the Defendant as evidenced by the trauma they clearly displayed when they were testifying here in court." RP 603.

of trial.⁷ Given Mr. Tyler's admissions in his letters, the physical evidence of the sexual abuse to which Dr. Stirling testified, and other corroborating evidence that helped to bolster the victims' credibility, any error in admitting evidence of Mr. Tyler's physical abuse of the children was harmless.

IV. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT FLAGRANT AND ILL-INTENTIONED MISCONDUCT DURING ITS CLOSING ARGUMENT AND BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE AGAINST MR. TYLER WAS SO OVERWHELMING THERE IS NO CHANCE THAT ANY PREJUDICE WOULD HAVE HAD A SUBSTANTIAL LIKELIHOOD OF AFFECTING THE JURY'S VERDICT OR COULD NOT HAVE BEEN CURED WITH A LIMITING INSTRUCTION.

At trial, "[c]ounsel are permitted latitude to argue the facts in evidence and reasonable inferences" in their closing arguments. *State v. Smith*, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985). Any allegedly improper statements by the State in closing argument "should be viewed within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the

⁷ Without assigning error, Mr. Tyler complains that the trial court "failed to give a limiting instruction, prohibiting the jury from considering the testimony as propensity evidence." Br. of App. at 18. But, "[a] court is under no duty to give a limiting instruction sua sponte" *State v. Wilcoxon*,185 Wn.App. 534, 341 P.3d 1019, 1023 (2015) (citing *State v. Noyes*, 69 Wn.2d 441, 446-47, 418 P.2d 471 (1996); *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 123–24, 249 P.3d 604 (2011) ("Since *Noyes*, this court has continued to hold that absent a request for a limiting instruction, the trial court is not required to give one sua sponte."); *State v. Athan*, 160 Wn.2d 354, 383, 158 P.3d 27 (2007) (holding the omission of a limiting instruction is not reversible error where defendant fails to request the instruction during trial). At no point did Mr. Tyler request a limiting instruction. *See generally* RP. Furthermore, the State did not make a propensity argument during its closing argument or rebuttal closing. RP 486-555, 560-62.

case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions." State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.2d 432 (2003) (citing State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). Juries are presumed to follow jury instructions absent evidence to contrary. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (citing State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)).

Engaging in "[m]ere appeals to the jury's passion or prejudice are improper." *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (citation omitted) (overruled on other grounds *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014)). Additionally, a prosecutor may not make prejudicial statements unsupported by the record. *Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d at 577. That said, a prosecutor may reference the "'horrible' nature of the crime and the effect on its victims." *State v. Borboa*, 157 Wn.2d 108, 123, 135 P.3d 469 (2006). This follows from the fact that Washington courts have long held that "[a] prosecutor is not muted because the acts committed arouse natural indignation." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Fleetwood*, 75 Wn.2d 80, 84, 448 P.2d 502 (1968)).

If the defendant can establish that misconduct occurred, the determination of whether the defendant was prejudiced is subject to one of the two standards of review: "[i]f the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in

prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. If the defendant did not object at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citations omitted).

Simply put, a defendant must first establish a prosecutor engaged in misconduct and then, when failing to object at trial, that "(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *Id.* at 760-61 (citation omitted); *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Under the heightened standard, "[r]eviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured." *Id.* at 762; *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) ("Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request."). Importantly, "[t]he absence of a motion for mistrial at the time of the argument strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an

appellant in the context of the trial." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (citations omitted).

Here, Mr. Tyler did not object a single time during the State's closing to the arguments that he now asserts are misconduct.

Consequently, Mr. Tyler must first establish the State engaged in misconduct and then that "(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict."

He cannot meet his burden.

Mr. Tyler's crimes were horrible and they had a devastating impact on his victims. He raped his biological daughter and what amounts to his two step-daughters from the time each of them was four or five years old until the abuse was disclosed years later. He raped them vaginally, anally, orally, and in one instance made them perform sex acts on each other.⁸

Given this setting, and viewing the State's arguments within the context of the State's entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions, it cannot be said the State engaged in flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. In fact, given the

37

⁸ That these were particularly heinous crimes with a clear impact on the victims was recognized by the trial court at sentencing when it noted that "[t]he trauma was so intense in this case, so intense. Worse than I have ever seen." RP 604. It also stated: "there were two cases over the years that I never could get behind that box, get behind that wall. They were so ugly that they have haunted me for years. Now, I have a third one that is going to haunt me for years." RP 605.

facts and strength of the case, the State's closing argument was rather restrained as page after page of the report of proceedings shows that the State's closing argument was mostly a technical discussion of the law and of each of the counts and evidence supporting them. *See* RP 486-555, 560-62. Moreover, because the State may reference the "horrible' nature of the crime[s] and the effect on its victims" and is "not muted because the acts committed arouse natural indignation" it is unsurprising, and also not misconduct, that the State referenced the pain J.A.R. felt when being anally raped by Mr. Tyler and described that what happened to the victims as "one of the most horrifying experiences any child could endure." *Borboa*, 157 Wn.2d at 123; RP 486, 508-09.

Additional instances that Mr. Tyler claims amounted to misconduct were either plain facts or reasonable inferences from the evidence. For example, referring to one of the victim's as Mr. Tyler's "own flesh-and-blood" is a fact, and one that distinguishes that victim from the other two. RP 540. To the extent that such a reference is inflammatory that is only because the act of raping one's own biological daughter itself may arouse more natural indignation for some.

Furthermore, the State's reference to Mr. Tyler as "calculating" is a fair and reasonable inference from the evidence elicited at trial given that the argument was made based on the testimony that Mr. Tyler told J.A.R.

that they needed to find her a boyfriend so that if Mr. Tyler got her pregnant from raping her they could blame the boyfriend. RP 524.
Additionally, that Mr. Tyler's behavior was calculating is self-evident from the fact that he was able to avoid detection and disclosure as he raped his three victims over many years. Similarly, the State's brief mentions of the 404(b) physical abuse evidence in its closing argument were fair and reasonable inferences from the evidence presented and did not amount to flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct as Mr. Tyler now complains despite not objecting to the statements at trial. RP 524, 539.
As discussed above in section III, the evidence supported the State's arguments.

11

Mr. Tyler, on the other hand, does identify statements by the State that are arguably misconduct. Those statements are that the jury was

_

⁹"And then a twelve -- eleven-, twelve-, thirteen year-old little girl has to be in fear of getting pregnant by her stepdad, who has beaten her before so that she won't tell anybody. . . . And then he's -- she's required to go find a boyfriend so that if she does get pregnant, they can blame it on him. That's pretty calculating for a human being to do to a little girl.

¹⁰ Mr. Tyler claims that "none of [the victims] said that he hit them to get them to comply with his sexual advances." Br. of App. at 21. But E.M.K testified that she had to lay down on her bed naked for Mr. Tyler to have sex with her and that if she refused she "would get hurt" and that he had hurt her before by hitting her. RP 215-16. J.A.R. testified that Mr. Tyler threatened her by telling he would "put his penis in [her] butt" if she was not naked for him upon his request because he knew that act "hurts really bad." RP 137.

il Mr. Tyler claims that "none of the children said that he hit them in order to prevent disclosure of the alleged abuse." Br. of App. at 21. But Dr. Stirling testified that when he examined H.M.R. she told him "that she had thought about telling before but was — was afraid, saying that he [(Mr. Tyler)] would beat her up if — if she told." RP 380. Additionally, Ms. Blakemore indicated that when she asked H.M.R. if she had been threatened by Mr. Tyler, that H.M.R. said Mr. Tyler told her that if she told anyone about the most recent rape, which H.M.R. reported was painful, that he would do it again. RP 353. Even J.R. said that he did not report the sexual abuse to anyone because if he did Mr. Tyler would be waiting for him at the house and would "spank" him. RP 243-44.

"fortunate" because it could find Mr. Tyler guilty, that Mr. Tyler had a "harem" at the home, and that there were not any more victims "that we know of." RP 486, 524, 540. Notwithstanding whether those statements were improper, the conclusion that (1) they were flagrant and ill intentioned; (2) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury; and (3) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict is untenable. That these three comments separated over 70 pages of a proper closing argument could result in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict is farfetched, especially in light of the strength of the State's case and that the absence of a motion for mistrial or a contemporaneous objection "at the time of the argument strongly suggests ... that the argument ... in question did not appear critically prejudicial ... in the context of the trial." Swan, 114 Wn.2d at 661; RP 486-555, 560-62. The potentially improper statements were singular, in the sense that they were not repeated, short-lived, in the sense that they were not part of a theme or overarching argument, and, thus, did not infect the State's closing argument. As a result, any prejudice that resulted from the statements could have been obviated by a curative instruction.

Furthermore, the jury, which we presume follows the courts instructions, was properly instructed by the court that: "the attorneys'

remarks, statements and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. They are not evidence. Disregard any remark, statement or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law as stated by the court." CP 24. The jury was also instructed that "[y]ou are officers of the court and must act impartially and with an earnest desire to determine and declare the proper verdict. Throughout your deliberations you will permit neither sympathy nor prejudice to influence your verdict." CP 25. Those instructions combined with the fact of the defendant's admissions in his letters, the physical evidence of sexual abuse, the victims' trial testimony, the victims' disclosures that were consistent with their trial testimony, and the overall strength of the case, make it beyond believable that any comments by the State resulted in prejudice that was not curable and had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.

V. THE CHARGING DOCUMENT WAS SUFFICIENT BECAUSE IT CONTAINED EVERY ELEMENT OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES AND THE PARTICULAR FACTS SUPPORTING THEM.

Challenges to the sufficiency of a charging document are reviewed *de novo* and the general rule is that such a challenge may be raised for first time on appeal. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991); *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 182, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). When the defendant challenges the charging document for the first time on appeal,

however, reviewing courts construe the document liberally in favor of validity. *State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn.App. 233, 244-45, 311 P.3d 61 (2013); *State v. Tandecki*, 153 Wn.2d 842, 848-49, 109 P.3d 398 (2005).

When a defendant is charged with a crime, the information must allege (1) every element of the charged offense and (2) particular facts supporting them. *State v. Nonog*, 169 Wn.2d 220, 226, 237 P.3d 250 (2010) (citing *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 679, 688, 782 P.2d 552 (1989)). The purpose of this well-settled rule is to provide the defendant notice of the nature of the charge so that he or she is able to prepare a defense. *State v. Zillyette*, 173 Wn.2d 784, 785-86, 270 P.2d 589 (2012); *Tandecki*, 153 Wn.2d. at 846.

The requirement that the charging document alleges facts supporting the elements of the crime charged, however, "does not impose any additional requirement that the State allege facts beyond those that sufficiently support the elements of the crime charged or that the State describe the facts with great specificity." *State v. Winings*, 126 Wn.App 75, 85, 107 P.3d 141 (2005). Thus, a "failure to allege specific facts in an information may render the charging document vague, but . . . not constitutionally defective." *State v. Laramie*, 141 Wn.App 332, 340, 169 P.3d 859 (2007) (citation omitted).

Contrary to the general rule that defendant may challenge a charging document for the first time on appeal, when a defendant complains that the charging document is vague rather than that the essential elements of the crime are missing, he or she has waived the challenge if "no bill of particulars was requested at trial." *Leach*, 113 Wn.2d at 687 (holding "[a] defendant may not challenge a charging document for 'vagueness' on appeal if no bill of particulars was requested at trial") (citing *State v. Holt*, 104 Wn.2d 315, 320, 704 P.2d 1189 (1985); *State v. Bonds*, 98 Wn.2d 1, 17, 653 P.2d 1024 (1982)).

Here, the information charged Mr. Tyler with multiple counts of Rape of a Child and Child Molestation. The following counts from the information are representative as to how he was charged:

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